ß				
FACULTY OF SCIE	ENCE AND TECHNOLOGY			
MASTE	R'S THESIS			
Study programme / specialisation:	Spring semester, 2023			
Marine and Offshore Technology	Open / Confidential			
Author: Syed Ali Bilal Naqvi				
Supervisor at UiS: Charlotte Obhrai				
External supervisor(s): Jawad Raza (Mo	oreld APPLY)			
Thesis title:				
Lifecycle Management of Off Credits (ECTS): 30	fshore and Onshore Wind Farms			
Vanuanda	Deges 61			
GHG	+ appendix: 09			
AUV				
AE				
CBM, FMECA	Stavanger, July 25,2023			

Abstract

Since the demand for renewable energy sources on a global scale has increased substantially over the past few years, a great number of businesses have made investments in this industry and are doing their utmost to make additional developments and discoveries in the field of wind energy. Wind farms, both onshore and offshore, are considered to be key contributors to the production of sustainable energy because they offer significant benefits, including a reduction in the negative effects on the environment and the production of harmful gases.

The purpose of this thesis was to analyse and explore the lifecycle activities of a wind farm, in order to determine the failure modes, failure effects, and failure consequences of the critical components, as well as the strategies that can be used to counteract these failures. As many wind farms are reaching their end of life, so this thesis also focused on the techniques and strategies that can be done before dismantling, The thesis also includes a reliability analysis, failure mode effect and criticality analysis of generator and gearbox of wind turbine, and also lifecycle cost analysis of an offshore wind farm. These studies improved our knowledge of offshore windfarm operations, maintenance strategies and give a brief information about cost reduction techniques. Several steps from maintenance strategies based on NORSOK Z-008 and ISO-14224, as well as knowledge gained from research papers and interviews with engineers in moreld, were implemented to achieve the goals of this thesis.

Acknowledgements

This thesis was successfully completed with the help and guidance of my industrial supervisor Doctor Jawad Raza and my University supervisor Charlotte Obhrai. I want to thank both for their inputs, guidance, assistance, and countless support throughout this journey.

I'd also like to thank the entire team of Moreld APPLY's Lifecycle Management Department for guiding me, answering my questions, and boosting my confidence throughout this journey. A special thanks to Maintenance Engineer Syed Taha, who passed on his knowledge and experience in maintenance to me.

I would like to dedicate this thesis to my father Syed Ali Zamin Naqvi who left this world on 8 March 2023, just as I began working on this thesis, he was the one who used to provide me all the moral support and courage, Thank you father for all the prayers and support.

I want to express my gratitude to my family, especially my mom and brother, who have been tremendous sources of inspiration and encouragement throughout my life. Finally, I'd like to thank my best friend Sameen Mukhtar, who has been there for me through thick and thin.

Table of Contents

Abstractii
Acknowledgementsiii
Table of Contentsiv
List of figuresvii
List of Tablesviii
List of Abbreviationsix
CHAPTER 1: Introduction1
1.1 Background and Context1
1.2 Research Objectives1
1.3 Methodology2
1.4 Scope of thesis2
1.5 Structure of thesis
CHAPTER 2: Literature Review4
2.1 Onshore Wind Turbines
2.1.2 Onshore Wind Turbines Foundations5
2.1.3 Advantages of Onshore Wind6
2.2 Offshore Wind Turbines
2.2.1 Reasons to go Offshore8
2.3 Offshore wind turbines foundations8
2.3.1 Bottom fixed turbines8
2.3.2 Floating turbines10
2.4 Considerations for site selection14
2.4.1 Wind Resources14
2.4.2 Depth of sea15
2.4.3 Distance from coastline and existing substations16
2.4.4 Environmental Factors16
2.5 GHG Emissions

CHAPTER 3: Exploring O&M and Logistics Challenges	19
3.1 Operations and Maintenance	19
3.2 Gear box failure	19
3.3 Failure of Blades	20
3.4 Generator failure	20
3.5 Maintenance Strategies for Wind Turbines	21
3.5.1 Corrective Maintenance	21
3.5.2 Preventive Maintenance	22
3.6 Future Innovations in operation and maintenance	24
3.7 Logistics and Supply chain	26
CHAPTER 4: End of Life Cycle	29
4.1 Extension of Life	29
4.2 Repowering	30
4.3 Decommissioning	31
4.4 Challenges in Decommissioning	32
4.4.1 Regulations and Licensing Issues	33
4.4.2 Environmental and Ecological Effects	33
4.4.3 Planning Procedure	34
4.4.4 Vessels Accessibility	34
4.5 Cost Analysis for Decommissioning	34
4.6 Recycling of Wind turbines	35
Chapter 5: Analysis and Results	37
5.1 Technical Hierarchy	37
5.2 Functional Breakdown	38
5.3 System Context Diagram	40
5.4 N ² Analysis	42
5.5 Failure Mode Effect and Criticality Analysis	43
5.6 Reliability Calculations	47
5.7 Lifecycle Cost Analysis	49 <u>V</u>

Chapter 6: Conclusion	52
References	53

List of Figures

FIGURE 1. NEW INSTALLATIONS ONSHORE [2].	4				
FIGURE 2. PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL INSTALLATIONS ONSHORE [2].	5				
FIGURE 3. NEW INSTALLATIONS OFFSHORE [2].	7				
FIGURE 4. PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL INSTALLATIONS OFFSHORE [2]	7				
FIGURE 5. TYPES OF BOTTOM FIXED TURBINES IN OFFSHORE INDUSTRY [9]	9				
FIGURE 6. TYPES OF FLOATING TURBINES IN OFFSHORE INDUSTRY [14]	11				
FIGURE 7. SPAR TYPE FOUNDATION [15]	12				
FIGURE 8. SEMISUBMERSIBLE TYPE FOUNDATION [15]	13				
FIGURE 9. TLP TYPE FOUNDATION [15]	14				
FIGURE 10. WIND TURBINE POWER OUTPUT CURVE WITH STEADY SPEED OF WIND [18]	15				
FIGURE 11. COMPARISON OF GLOBAL WARMING POTENTIAL [103]	17				
FIGURE 12. COMPARISON OF OZONE LAYER DEPLETION [103].	18				
FIGURE 13. FAILURE MECHANISM OF BLADES AND AGE OF TURBINE [105]	20				
FIGURE 14. MAINTENANCE STRATEGIES FOR WIND TURBINES	21				
FIGURE 15. CORRECTIVE MAINTENANCE [33]	22				
FIGURE 16. CONDITION BASED MAINTENANCE [33]	23				
FIGURE 17. INSPECTION OF WIND FARM BY ROBOTICS [51]	25				
FIGURE 18. OVERVIEW OF DIGITAL WIND FARM [52]	26				
FIGURE 19. OVERVIEW OF OFFSHORE WIND INSTALLATION PROCESSES [60]	27				
FIGURE 20. OVERVIEW OF LIFETIME EXTENSION METHODOLOGY [69]	30				
FIGURE 21. DECOMMISSIONING OF EXISTING OFFSHORE WIND FARMS AND EXPECTED YEA	ARS [65].				
	31				
FIGURE 22. OVERVIEW OF WIND TURBINES IN EUROPE REACHING 20 YEARS [76]	32				
FIGURE 23. CHALLENGES OF DECOMMISSIONING [64]	33				
FIGURE 24. BREAKDOWN OF DECOMMISSIONING COST [83]	35				
FIGURE 26. OVERVIEW OF POSSIBILITIES OF RECYCLING [86]	36				
FIGURE 27. TECHNICAL HIERARCHY OF WIND TURBINE	37				
FIGURE 28. FUNCTIONAL BREAKDOWN OF WIND TURBINE	39				
FIGURE 29. SYSTEM CONTEXT DIAGRAM OF GEAR BOX OF WIND TURBINE UNDER CONSIDE	RATION				
	40				
FIGURE 30. SYSTEM CONTEXT DIAGRAM OF GENERATOR OF WIND TURBINE UNDER					
CONSIDERATION	41				
FIGURE 30. RELIABILITY COMPARISON OF GEARBOX (ONSHORE AND OFFSHORE)	48				
FIGURE 31. RELIABILITY COMPARISON OF GENERATOR (ONSHORE AND OFFSHORE)	49				
FIGURE 32. LIFECYCLE COSTING OF WIND FARM UNDER CONSIDERATION	51				

List of Tables

TABLE 1. AMOUNT OF FUEL CONSUMPTION PER HOUR BY EQUIPMENT'S	17
TABLE 2. N SQUARE ANALYSIS OF GEARBOX INTERNAL COMPONENTS.	42
TABLE 3. N SQUARE ANALYSIS OF GENERATOR INTERNAL COMPONENTS.	43
TABLE 4. FMEA RATINGS FOR OCCURRENCE OF FAILURE [104]	44
TABLE 5. FMEA RATINGS FOR SEVERITY OF FAILURE [104]	44
TABLE 6. FMEA RATINGS FOR DETECTION OF FAILURE [103]	45
TABLE 7. FMECA OF GEAR BOX OF WIND TURBINE	46
TABLE 8. FMECA OF GENERATOR OF WIND TURBINE	47
TABLE 9. LIFECYCLE COSTING ANALYSIS OF WIND FARM	50

List of Abbreviations

GHG	Green House Gases
LCOE	Levelized Cost of Energy
AE	Acoustic Emissions
UT	Ultrasonic Testing
FMECA	Failure Mode effect and criticality analysis
TLP	Tension Leg platform
RPN	Risk Priority Number
AUVs	Autonomous Underwater Vehicle
GW	Gigawatts
LCCA	Life-cycle cost analysis
СВМ	Condition based monitoring
T2S	Tow to Shore
FOW	Floating offshore wind turbine

CHAPTER 1: Introduction

This chapter presents the overview of the thesis, it provides introduction to the research objectives, the scope of work, structure of thesis and the methodology employed for this thesis.

1.1 Background and Context

The global demand for renewable energy sources has increased significantly in last few years, many companies have invested in this sector and are trying their best for more advancements and innovations in the field of wind energy. Onshore and Offshore wind farms are considered as key contributors to sustainable energy production, offering significant benefits such as reducing the environmental impacts and production of harmful gases. Managing and supervising wind farms throughout their lifecycle is a challenge for companies as efficient operations and maintenance ensure their optimal performance, reliability, and efficiency.

Norway has seen significant growth in wind energy sector due to sustainability and pollution free production. Norway first wind farm was installed in 2002 producing only 40 MW of electricity. According to reports issued in 2021 Norway produced almost 7 % of its electricity from 53 wind farms, and this capacity is increasing every year with new projects both in offshore and onshore [1].

Wind turbines have a life span of almost 25 years, so operation and maintenance are very critical aspects for wind turbines. The generator, blades and gear box are very critical components of the wind turbine and have high maintenance costs and labor requirements among all the components of wind turbines.

1.2 Research Objectives

Operations, maintenance, and decommissioning are very crucial stages of lifecycle management, this thesis aims to explore and analyse the activities related to lifecycle of wind farms, focusing on finding the failure modes and failure effects and reliability of critical components, the following are some objectives that were considered in this thesis

• Outline business impact, logistic issues and economical constraints, and uncertainties.

- Review the failures that arise during operations and find strategies to counter these failures with the help of FMECA.
- Categorize challenges and align these with risks and regulatory requirements and do a lifecycle cost analysis study.
- Enlist the future trends and identify new digitalization opportunities for operations and maintenance. Develop framework for efficient decommissioning of wind turbines and analyze supply chain management.

1.3 Methodology

To achieve the above-mentioned research objectives, a comprehensive methodology was used. This thesis involves combination of literature review, data analysis, and expert interviews. The literature review of different research papers, journals and books were done to get the detail insight about the existing knowledge, theories, and strategies related to wind farms. NORSOK Z-008 and ISO 14224 were studied and used to develop the technical hierarchy, functional breakdown, system context diagrams, an effort was made to develop failure mode effect and criticality analysis (FMECA) of the gearbox and generator of the offshore wind turbine, interviews with industry professionals and literature review were handy while doing this analysis.

1.4 Scope of thesis

The scope of this thesis encompasses the lifecycle management of wind farms, with more focus towards operations, maintenance and decommissioning of offshore wind farms and the challenges, maintenance strategies, and technologies linked with it. This thesis also includes reliability analysis, failure mode effect and criticality analysis and lifecycle cost analysis of the offshore wind farm. These analysis further helped in understanding operations and maintenance strategies and cost optimization of offshore windfarms.

1.5 Structure of thesis

Chapter 1: This chapter presents the holistic view of the thesis, it provides introduction to the research objectives, the scope of work, structure of thesis and the methodology employed for this thesis.

Chapter 2: This chapter provides a brief introduction about onshore and offshore wind turbines, their current capacity, future projects and different types of foundations and the reasons behind the move from onshore to offshore.

Chapter 3: The chapter focuses on the critical failures encountered in wind turbines, the maintenance strategies used to fix these failures, this chapter also give a brief information about new technologies and strategies in operations and maintenance of wind turbines.

Chapter 4: This chapter is all about end-of-life management of wind turbines including various concepts like extension of life, recycling, repurposing, and decommissioning. It also explores the challenges that are related to efficient decommissioning starting from vessels accessibility to regulations and licensing.

Chapter 5: This chapter contains all the analysis and system diagrams which were done to achieve the goals of the thesis, presenting the results of every step.

Chapter 6: This chapter contains summary of the thesis and concludes the research work done in order to achieve the goals of thesis.

CHAPTER 2: Literature Review

This chapter provides a brief introduction about onshore and offshore wind turbines, their current capacity, greenhouse gas emissions, future projects and different types of foundations and the reasons behind the move from onshore to offshore. This chapter also discusses about the considerations that should be considered before site selection.

2.1 Onshore Wind Turbines

Onshore wind turbines use wind power to generate electricity and are huge, tower-like structures with rotating blades. Onshore wind turbines are installed mostly in open plains, hilltops, and near coastlines, where wind speeds are high and more consistent. According to the Global Wind Energy Council, by the end of 2021, the system had added 72.5 GW of new wind capacity, bringing onshore wind capacity to 780 GW, this was a significant increase from the 5 GW installed capacity in 1995. From the following figure it can be seen that despite of the challenges posed by COVID-19, there was rapid increase in the onshore wind capacity, China played a leading role and added 30.45 GW into system, followed by USA and Brazil [2].



FIGURE 1. NEW INSTALLATIONS ONSHORE [2].

By the end of 2021, total onshore wind capacity was approximately 780.3 GW, and China, US and India were major onshore wind markets.



FIGURE 2. PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL INSTALLATIONS ONSHORE [2].

2.1.2 Onshore Wind Turbines Foundations

The design and construction of an onshore wind turbine foundation depends on the following factors: turbine size, soil conditions and geotechnical conditions. The foundations must be designed to support the weight of the turbine and its components and withstand wind and earthquake loads and prevent soil erosion around the foundation [3].

As wind turbine capacity and tower height increases, more robust foundations are needed to support the systems. The design process should consider financial factors and target to improve reliability. For onshore wind turbines, gravity base or spread foundations are often preferred due to their simplicity. These foundations consist of a cylindrical pedestal which is mounted on a large reinforced concrete base and have a circular or octagonal shape. The central pedestal has a radius of 8.5 m to 10.5 m and is connected to the tower. The foundation width typically ranges from 15 m to 20 m, with the centre being 2 m to 3 m thick and tapering to 1.0 m or less at the edges [4].

2.1.3 Advantages of Onshore Wind

There are several benefits of onshore wind farms, some of them are listed below

Cost effective: Onshore wind turbines are less expensive than the offshore ones, installation and maintenance costs for onshore wind turbines are much lower than those of offshore turbines, making them a more cost-effective way to generate electricity.

Fast installation: Onshore wind turbines can be installed in months; installation methods are simple and can be performed very quickly when comparing with offshore wind turbines.

Easy access to maintenance: Onshore wind turbines maintenance cost and maintenance time is less when compared to offshore turbines, as they are located on land and do not require specialised equipment's and weather windows.

Reduced environmental impacts: Onshore wind turbines construction, installation, operations, and maintenance create less emissions and do not impact the marine life [5-6].

2.2 Offshore Wind Turbines

Offshore wind turbines are huge structures installed in water bodies; oceans or large lakes, use to generate electricity from wind energy. These turbines are larger than their land-based counterparts, with blades having length up to 100 meters or more and are designed to withstand harsh marine environments. The use of offshore wind turbines has surged rapidly in recent years as all countries are trying to increase their renewable energy capacity and reduce carbon emissions [7]. According to the Report of Global Wind Energy Council published in 2022 almost 21.1 GW of electricity from offshore wind was added to the system, this number was very encouraging for the offshore wind industry and was a record itself. From this 21.1 GW of electricity almost 80 percent was added by China,11 percent by United Kingdom, followed by Vietnam and other countries [2].



FIGURE 3. NEW INSTALLATIONS OFFSHORE [2].

According to the reports, 57.2GW electricity in world was produced from offshore wind turbines in 2021 and major contributing countries were China and United Kingdom.



Total installations offshore (%)

FIGURE 4. PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL INSTALLATIONS OFFSHORE [2].

2.2.1 Reasons to go Offshore

There were several reasons to move from onshore wind farms to offshore wind farms, some of them are discussed below

- More consistent wind: High average wind speeds are observed offshore due to reduced friction that's why offshore wind turbines generate more energy compared to onshore turbines. These homogenous conditions are due to the absence of natural and man-made obstacles, such as hills, buildings, and trees, which can cause wind turbulence.
- Less acceptance issues: Offshore wind turbines are located far from the shore, so they are less visible, less noise pollution and have less impact on the surrounding environment compared to onshore turbines.
- **Huge turbine sizes**: Offshore turbines are huge structures and much larger than the onshore turbines, with rotor diameters reaching up to 220 meters, large size allows them to capture more wind energy and generate more electricity, whereas onshore turbine sizes have come to a limit due to transportation issues.
- Matter of space: Offshore wind farms have more potential for expansion and can be easily expanded because there is usually more available space in the ocean as compared to land.

2.3 Offshore wind turbines foundations

The choice of foundation for offshore wind turbines mostly depends on depth of water, distance to shore, seabed features, wave loads, wind loads, economical costs, and available construction technologies [8]. Offshore wind turbines can be bottom fixed or floating depending upon the water depth, distance to shore and some other critical factors, we will discuss both types in detail here.

2.3.1 Bottom fixed turbines

These turbines are generally used in water depths up to 50-70 meters and are suitable when we have relatively stable seabed conditions. These turbines are more cost-effective and easier to install than floating wind turbines. However, they are not suitable for deeper waters or areas

with more challenging seabed conditions. Different types of bottom fixed turbines are discussed further [9].



FIGURE 5. TYPES OF BOTTOM FIXED TURBINES IN OFFSHORE INDUSTRY [9].

2.3.1.1 Gravity Base

The Gravity base structure also called as GBS is made up of a transition piece, a turbine tower, and a central concrete or steel shaft filled with sand, rocks, and iron ores. When operating in water deeper than 20 meters, the Gravity base structure is optimal [12].

2.3.1.2 Suction Bucket

Suction buckets are like upside-down buckets, which can be brought down into the seabed to anchor the offshore structures. When the water is pumped out of the bucket, the pressure inside the bucket skirt drops, creating negative pressure that works in tandem with the foundation's weight to push it deeper into the seafloor [10].

2.3.1.3 Monopile

Monopile foundations are the most common bottom fixed foundations for offshore wind, they are suitable for sites having water depth from 0-40m, they consist of large cylindrical steel pipes with a diameter of several meters [11] and their installation requires hydraulic hammering of monopiles into the seabed [12].

2.3.1.4 Jacket Structure

The piles used in jacket structures have four legs and are made up of cross braces that are connected to one another. Pile sleeves are used to drive the foundation's base piles into the seabed to the required depth of water. When the water depth at the site is between 25 and 50 meters, jacket structures form good supports [12].

2.3.1.5 Tripod Structure

The tripod structure is light-weight three-legged steel jacket structure; below the steel column in the centre of the structure there is a steel frame which is used to transmit the load forces from the tower to the three steel piles, at all leg position piles are fixed in order to hook the tripod structure to the seabed [12]. Usually, to install this type of foundation system two to three working days are required with specialized equipment's [13].

2.3.2 Floating turbines

Floating wind turbines are mounted over a floating platform which is anchored to the seafloor. As the offshore industry developed, and we go further in deep water, bottom fixed turbines were uneconomical and there was need of floating turbines which can go easily in deep water and capture the strong winds of the oceans, the platform of floating wind turbines is connected to the seabed with the help of mooring lines, these mooring lines make sure that wind and wave loads don't move the turbines. There are various types of floating wind turbines [14].

- Tension Leg platform (TLP)
- Semi-Submersible
- Spar

This thesis provides basic information about three types further.



FIGURE 6. TYPES OF FLOATING TURBINES IN OFFSHORE INDUSTRY [14].

2.3.2.1 Spar Foundation

The spar foundation is basically a cylindrical structure which hangs below the wind turbine tower and floats vertically in deep water. To lower its centre of gravity, ballast is added to the bottom of the cylinder. The platform is anchored, but the lines are slack to enable it to move with the water and prevent damage [14].

There are several advantages of this foundation listed in the article [15].

- Simple Design
- Low cost
- Motions induced by waves are limited

Figure 7 is a schematic diagram of spar type foundation and helps in understanding the concept in more detail [15].



FIGURE 7. SPAR TYPE FOUNDATION [15].

2.3.2.2 Semi-Submersible Foundation

These types of foundations are designed as stabilizing floaters in the wind industry which operates in deep waters [16]. Integrated pontoons with number of columns having beams and braces are key features of semi-submersible foundation, by ballasting the structure the required draft is obtained depending upon the load on the wind turbine. Catenary mooring lines are used to connect the semi sub with the seabed, this design is unique and almost have the advantages of both the spar and barge buoys.

Pros of semi-submersible foundation are given below

- Can be constructed onshore
- Less mooring cost
- Turbines can be installed onshore and then transported towards the site.

Complex and difficult fabrication, high material cost and poor hydrodynamic stability are some disadvantages of this foundation [15].



FIGURE 8. SEMISUBMERSIBLE TYPE FOUNDATION [15].

2.3.2.3 TLP Foundation

Tension Leg Platforms (TLPs) have smaller, lighter platforms which are supported by taut vertical lines that connects to the seafloor below. This design allows the platform to move with the water while maintaining its stability [14]. Some advantages of TLP are listed below

- Light weight
- Used in deep waters (50-60m)
- Can be assembled onshore

While high cost of mooring lines and difficulty to maintain stability during Installation and transport are some cons of this foundation [15].



FIGURE 9. TLP TYPE FOUNDATION [15].

2.4 Considerations for site selection

Selecting a site for a wind turbine involves number of considerations, such as wind resources, sea depth, environmental impacts, distance from coastline, and regulatory requirements. Usually, a team of professionals including engineers and environmental consultants work together and do the analysis of the possible sites.

2.4.1 Wind Resources

Wind velocity is very important parameters for calculating power production and is studied in detail when the analysis of possible site is undergoing. Wind velocity is calculated with the help of anemometer, they are connected to wind turbines, and are used to control the starting and shutting of wind turbines depending upon the wind speed [17].



FIGURE 10. WIND TURBINE POWER OUTPUT CURVE WITH STEADY SPEED OF WIND [18].

From this graph it can be seen that when the speed is below 3.5 m/s there is no power production from the wind turbine, as soon as the wind speed reaches 3.5 m/s turbine blades start rotating and generator will start producing electricity, this speed at which production of electricity is started is called as cut in speed. Rated speed is the value at which power production from the wind turbine is maximum and when the speed of wind increases beyond 25 m/s, anemometer sends signal to controller to shut down the turbine to prevent any damage. The blades come to feather position allowing the wind to flow through them, and brakes are applied at the rotor hub. Turbine will restart, when the wind speed will return to a significantly lower speed, known as cut in speed [19].

2.4.2 Depth of sea

For offshore farms, sea depth is also very important parameter and should be considered before the selection of possible site, if sea depth is below 50 metres, then the foundations for the possible site will be fixed bottom, however if the depth is more than 50m than floating foundations will be used, the prices of these concepts vary hugely and have great impact on the economic feasibility of the site [17].

2.4.3 Distance from coastline and existing substations

Engineers assess both these distances, as they have significant impacts on the feasibility of the site, for O&M activities of the wind farm, distance from coastline should be minimum as it helps in easy transportation of crew members and parts of machinery that are needed to be replaced or repaired, and when analysing the cost of cables, it is recommended to have least distance from existing substations [17].

2.4.4 Environmental Factors

Onshore wind farms are considered to be dangerous and serious threat for birds and bats, in the similar way offshore farms affect the marine life in the region, and proper survey of the site should be done so fishing might not get affected, sound and visual impact are the two major concerns shown by community which are associated with operating onshore wind turbines and these should be properly addressed while making an decision about the possible site for the wind farm [20].

2.5 GHG Emissions

There is a misconception among common people; wind turbines have no greenhouse gas emissions, this statement can be true if we analyse only operational face of wind turbines but if we analyse whole lifecycle of wind turbines, we will find that they do emit GHG'S and effect the ozone layer. Onshore wind turbines foundations are usually made by concrete and reinforced steel whereas offshore foundations are made up of steel; extraction of materials, manufacturing, and transportation of materials to the site; all contributes to greenhouse gas emissions. Installation process of onshore and offshore is very different from each other, so does the amount of GHG emissions; onshore installations are usually done by excavator, forklifts, and cranes whereas for offshore installations we require special equipment's like tugboats, cranes, and hydraulic hammers etc [103].

The table below shows the amount of fuel consumed per hour during the installation process by the equipment's and provide a brief idea about GHG emissions.

Onshore		Offshore Shallow-Water		Offshore Deep-Water	
Equipment	Fuel Consumption (L)	Equipment	Fuel Consumption (L)	Equipment	Fuel Consumption (L)
Generator	418	Pull tunga boat	591	Crane	620.1
Crane	620.1	Workboat	148.5	Forklift	64.0
Truck Mixer	69.7	Crane	620.1	Tugboat	628
Truck Gravel	74.7	Self-propelled jack-up barge	21,330	Auxiliary boats	297
Forklift	64.0	Hydraulic Hammer	44.3		
Excavation digger	44.1	-			

TABLE 1. AMOUNT OF FUEL CONSUMPTION PER HOUR BY EQUIPMENT'S

From the following figures it can be noted that GHG emissions are reduced by increasing wind turbines size, but the ozone layer depletion rate increases with the increase in size, ozone layer depletion rate is a concern for engineers and scientists as this is direct source of UV rays and cause severe diseases in humans. These results are taken from [103], where 3 wind farms are analysed.



FIGURE 11. COMPARISON OF GLOBAL WARMING POTENTIAL [103].



FIGURE 12. COMPARISON OF OZONE LAYER DEPLETION [103].

CHAPTER 3: Exploring O&M and Logistics Challenges

This chapter focuses on the critical failures encountered in wind turbines, the maintenance strategies used to fix these failures, this chapter also give a brief information about new technologies and strategies in O&M of wind turbines.

3.1 Operations and Maintenance

Wind turbines are huge structures with number of different components, operation and maintenance terms are often used together, but both are planned separately, operational activities basically focus on achieving maximum power from the wind, while maintenance activities aim to minimize risk of component failure of wind turbines. Some major components that fail during operations in wind turbines are blades, gearbox, and generator.

3.2 Gear box failure

The wind turbine's gear box is a crucial part of the machine and is used to convert low speed and high torque of main shaft to high speed and low torque for the generator, Different turbines use different configurations of gearbox, but still most wind turbines today in operation have constant gear ratios between the generator and rotor of the turbine, although wind turbines having variable gear ratio allows discrete changes to the speed of rotor and help in achieving high efficiency. Gearboxes have sun and planetary gears with parallel gears to get high values of transmission ratios, however prolonged running of wind turbines in harsh conditions can result in shaft imbalance, bearing damage, oil leakages and high temperatures, and hence can result in the failure of gearbox. Gearbox has highest failure rate among all components, longest downtime, and highest economical loss; according to statistical failure data of components gearbox failure contributes almost 18 percent to the maintenance cost of the wind turbine [26,27].

3.3 Failure of Blades

One of the most common causes of wind turbine breakdown is a malfunctioning blade, wind turbine blades are usually made of fiberglass or carbon fibre depending upon the operating conditions, these blades are subjected to severe mechanical and environmental stresses during their operations; ice, rain, moisture, sand, and erosion affect these blades badly, transportation, thunderbolts and bird collisions also impact the working of blades and causes failure of blades. [21-24]. A survey was conducted by wind turbine service men in order to detect links between failure mechanism of blades and age of the wind turbine, figure 13 illustrates the results obtained from this research [105].



FIGURE 13. FAILURE MECHANISM OF BLADES AND AGE OF TURBINE [105].

3.4 Generator failure

Generators in wind turbines are used to convert the mechanical energy of the incoming wind into electrical energy. AC generators are preferred for wind turbines as DC generators have high initial and maintenance cost. Number of failures can arise in generators during operations due to overloading, electrical faults, and lack of lubrication to the mechanical components, these failures can be electrical failures, bearing failures, slip ring failures, overheating, abnormal noises, and damage to the insulation's failure [106].

3.5 Maintenance Strategies for Wind Turbines

Maintenance is very costly process both for onshore and offshore wind turbines and it is required to keep the smooth working of all the components, increase the availability of the equipment, ensure safety of workers; so different strategies are used to maintain these components. Two main strategies that are used for maintenance of wind turbines are preventive and corrective maintenance strategies. Scheduled maintenance and condition-based maintenance are two subsets of preventive maintenance.



FIGURE 14. MAINTENANCE STRATEGIES FOR WIND TURBINES

3.5.1 Corrective Maintenance

This maintenance strategy is also called as run to failure, this maintenance concept is carried out when any fault is recognized and intended to put an item into a state in which it can carry out the desired task [28]. This strategy is used after the failure of a component, to bring the component back in working state and it is usually more useful for those assets whose failure has very low consequences i.e., no safety risks and has minimal effect on production [29]. This maintenance strategy is usually implemented for non-critical components or when the maintenance cost is higher than the cost of changing the equipment after the failure.



FIGURE 15. CORRECTIVE MAINTENANCE [33].

3.5.2 Preventive Maintenance

Preventive maintenance is defined as [28]: as "the maintenance plan which is performed to delay the onset of failure or the deterioration of an item's functionality by performing routine checks at regular intervals or in accordance with established criteria". The PM strategy is performed at regular intervals to delay failures or to head off failures from occurring. There are two different types of preventive maintenance techniques; the scheduled maintenance and the condition-based maintenance, differentiating factor between these two types is the way of deciding when to perform the preventive maintenance [30].

3.5.2.1 Condition Based Maintenance

This maintenance strategy is carried out when the physical condition of the equipment is to be analyzed [31]. This maintenance strategy is based on performance analysis and utilizes realtime data which is measured by sensors to detect failure symptoms [32]. From the following figure it can be seen that constant monitoring is being done of the desired component and when there is some difference in the desired values sensors detect the failure and send the signals to operators, that maintenance is required. Further in this chapter some condition monitoring techniques that are in use for maintenance of wind turbines are discussed.



FIGURE 16. CONDITION BASED MAINTENANCE [33].

3.5.2.1.1 Vibration Analysis

In order to keep an eye on the condition of moving parts in wind turbines, vibration analysis is a common practice. Position transducers are used for low frequencies, velocity sensors are used for medium frequencies, accelerometers are used for high frequencies, and spectral emitted energy sensors are used for very high frequencies in this method [34].

Vibration analysis is suitable for monitoring various wind turbine components, including gearboxes, bearings, and blades. The sensor configuration in a nacelle, which houses many of the wind turbine components, is illustrated in reference [35]. Moreover, some other vibration and acoustic methods are used for condition monitoring of rolling bearings, as reviewed by Tandon and Nakra [36]. These methods include vibration and sound measurement in time and frequency domains, the shock pulse method, and the acoustic emission technique [38].

3.5.2.1.2 Acoustic Emissions

In order to detect the instantaneous release of strain energy and the generation of elastic waves when a metal structure is modified, acoustic emissions (AE) analysis has recently become a popular method. In wind turbines, AE technique is used to detect the propagation of

cracks earlier than vibration analysis technique, The use of AE is increasing significantly for both condition monitoring of rotating wind turbine components as well as blades [38-41].

AE parameters for detecting faults in radially loaded ball bearings experiencing different speeds have been measured and interpreted in [42]. While vibration monitoring uses sensors to detect movement in a component, acoustic monitoring uses sensors to record sound directly by adhering them to a surface with a flexible glue that has low attenuation. Blades of wind turbines can be monitored for damage using AE sensors in a similar fashion to how bearings and gearboxes are monitored, as discussed in [43].

3.5.2.1.3 Ultrasonic testing

The Ultrasonic testing (UT) methods are commonly used in the wind energy industry for inspections of wind turbine towers and blades. This method assesses both visible and hidden flaws in wind turbine construction. [44-46]. It is a reliable method for determining the material properties of the major turbine components because ultrasonic waves propagate widely and permit estimation of the type and location of detected defects. In [47], a method using UT to visualize the internal structure of wind turbine blades is described.

3.6 Future Innovations in operation and maintenance

There are several potential innovations in operations and maintenance of wind turbines, many people believe that the future will be of floating wind turbines, and it is estimated that by 2040 70 GW of electricity will be produced by these FOW [48]. Tow to shore strategy is a new maintenance strategy and many engineers are willing to use this strategy soon for the maintenance of FOW. Now jack up vessels are used for removing major components of bottom fixed turbines, but these vessels are limited to 60m water depth [49] so major components replacement for FOW will be done either by on site methods; floating-to-floating transfer, floating cranes, and self-hoisting equipment or off-site methods such as T2S [50]. Many companies are planning to automize some maintenance activities for example using drones and robots for inspecting the condition of wind turbine blades, this will reduce the cost, save time, and reduce the downtimes and increase efficiency [51]. Due to high wind speeds and contact with different elements wind turbines blade erode and annual production reduces, drones have the ability to capture pictures of different elements and components which can be analysed by computers and help in detecting failure earlier. Figure 17 is visual representation

of drones inspecting wind turbines blade and sending signals to the operator after detecting faults [51].



FIGURE 17. INSPECTION OF WIND FARM BY ROBOTICS [51].

Similarly, AUV and ROV'S are used for inspection of subsea structures and cables.

Digital twin technology is going to revolutionize the operations and maintenance of wind turbines, it will help in maximizing the production, reducing the downtimes and will optimize the wind turbine performance. This technology basically creates a digital copy or "twin" of the physical asset, and it allows real-time remote monitoring, digital twin; one of most promising technology of the wind industry allows the operator to control the functions and ensure better safety standards during operations and maintenance activities [53].



FIGURE 18. OVERVIEW OF DIGITAL WIND FARM [52].

3.7 Logistics and Supply chain

Logistics and supply chain management of the parts of the wind turbines are major concerns that should be prioritized, particularly in the offshore wind industry, different models have been proposed to evaluate the offshore logistics and results show that logistics depends upon factors like, distance to shore, weather conditions and sea depth etc. Improving LCOE is the objective of every owner and improved logistics can help the owners in achieving this goal. Poulsen and Hasager [54] proposed a complete definition for the offshore wind logistics: "*Parts, modules, components, people and tools are safely stored and moved, weather permitting, onshore, as well as offshore by air/ocean/land using various transportation assets and transport equipment*". During construction phase which is almost about 1 year the logistic operations are much more significant than during the maintenance phase. The construction phase starts from preassembly, transportation of turbines from port to the site, installation, offshore commissioning and ends after trial quality check. Installation vessels usually called as jack up vessels are used for transportation and installation of wind turbines; these vessels are of special kind and have foldable legs which can go down into the seabed providing a stable platform for the operations [55]. Support vessels like crew transfer vessels (CTV) and

accommodation vessels are also used during construction phase and helps in transferring the crew to the site location.

The North Sea region has favourable conditions for offshore wind due to high wind speed; but this high wind speed and wave height creates a lot of problems during the installation process and only give 120 days in a year for this process [56,57]. As the wind turbines are growing their structures are becoming more fragile and prone to damage, so installation processes can be performed to a certain wind speed span which delays the project timelines and results in enormous unanticipated expenditures [58]. Logistics decisions are very crucial and have huge impacts on profitability [59]. Managing logistics is one of the major challenges faced by offshore industry and for each project different support tools are used for examination of supply chain methods. Installation depends on weather conditions and hence is considered as bottleneck for the supply chain, when the installation process is disturbed and manufactured parts are on time it creates stock backups in the supply chain.



FIGURE 19. OVERVIEW OF OFFSHORE WIND INSTALLATION PROCESSES [60].

Figure 19 explains the installation process, multiple turbines are pre-assembled to prevent any delay and when the weather is favourable these turbines are loaded on vessels and sail

towards the site, where jack up vessels perform the installation process. There are 2 main logistics strategies that are performed during offshore installation

- All in one strategy
- Feeder system strategy

In all-in-one strategy, the installation vessel serves as a dual-purpose vessel; it not only instal components but also transports the components. The vessel is first fully loaded with the components at the base port and then take them directly to the installation site. Once there, all the components are installed part by part by the same vessel without any unloading processes. After completing the installation process, the vessel goes back to port to pick up the next set of components. On the other hand, in feeder strategy the installation unit stays at the site and is being continuously supplied with components by smaller feeder vessels or barges, these feeder vessels bring the required components from one or more base ports to the installation unit [60].

CHAPTER 4: End of Life Cycle

This chapter is all about end-of-life management of wind turbines including various concepts like extension of life, recycling, repurposing, and decommissioning. It also explores the challenges that are related to efficient decommissioning starting from vessels accessibility to regulations and licensing.

The first offshore wind farm was constructed in 1991, and since then this industry has undergone significant growth, resulting in a total installed capacity of 19 GW in Europe [61]. While the initial challenges primarily were related to planning and construction [62], new concerns popped up regarding the ageing of the wind turbine fleet [63], which are like those encountered by onshore wind farms. However, the consequences of end-of-life decisions for offshore wind turbines are even more critical due to the unique environmental difficulties and constraints associated with offshore operations.

Wind turbines end-of-life has recently become a major area of interest for many companies, approximately 30% of Europe's total installed wind turbines will be over 15 years old by 2020 [63]. As the typical service life of wind turbines is 20 years, it is crucial to carefully prepare for various potential end-of-life scenarios [64].

The end of life of wind turbines can be very crucial and challenging, it is one of the hot topics in the industry due to the aging of assets. End-of-life strategies are considered and given great importance in the early design phase of any wind farm project. Failure to take this into account can result in severe consequences, including unexpected costs as noted in [65].

There are several technological and economic factors that operators keep in mind while planning the end of life of aging wind farms, sometimes it is feasible economically and technologically to perform direct decommissioning, and sometimes decommissioning is delayed by some intermediate processes, operators decide the best course of action for their farms and took the decision either to extend the lifetime, do repowering process or just go for decommissioning [66]. In this chapter intermediate processes and decommissioning process are discussed in detail.

4.1 Extension of Life

Life time extension assessment is usually carried out in the last years of operating permit, experts from different departments sit together and discuss the analytical and technical results, technical results come after doing onsite inspections and analytical results come after comparing the electricity generation data of the turbine with other turbines [67], a status report is generated which helps in determining a precise financial estimate of the expenses that will have to be bare to replace the critical parts and do repairs. The information collected from these reports is very critical in decision making for wind farm operators as it provides an insight about the opportunities and efforts that will be required in continuing the operations [68].

	Design Life (LCOE)	Lifetime l	Extension (LCOE ₂)
CAPEX		LTE CAPEX LTEA: Visual Inspection, Oper Analysis, Administration; Repa	ational and Loads- irs & Retrofits	
OPEX				
Yield				
		Contingency Unforeseen repairs		
Warranty	Post-Warranty	End of Asset Design Life	+5 years	+10 years

FIGURE 20. OVERVIEW OF LIFETIME EXTENSION METHODOLOGY [69].

4.2 Repowering

Repowering of wind turbines involves the process of utilizing the same location while replacing the worn out and obsolete wind turbine components and turbines with new and better ones, thereby elevating the wind farm's potential for producing electricity, The goal is to enhance the power output of the wind turbine and try to extend its lifespan [70].

There are two main strategies which are used in industry for repowering i.e., partial repowering and full repowering. Partial repowering involves substitution of small components of the wind turbine such as rotor, gearbox, and generators etc [71], whereas full repowering is process in which old turbines are decommissioned and removed from the site and replaced by new turbines of bigger capacity at the same site [71-72].

The reliability and power output of wind turbines are both improved by repowering them. Access to substations, grid connections, and significant cost savings due to existing licenses, agreements, and historical data are some other advantages of repowering wind turbines [73]. Repowering of wind turbines also involves several challenges; increased risk of failure of tower and foundations when reused. Furthermore, there might be some regulatory hurdles and challenges related to interconnection agreements and leases [72], Despite of all these challenges, repowering of wind turbines is getting popularity as it is considered as costeffective way to increase the energy output and lifespan of wind turbines.

4.3 Decommissioning

Decommissioning is basically set of actions which are performed to restore a site into its original condition, decommissioning usually takes place when the project life is completed and is considered as last phase of the project, in this thesis our focus is towards decommissioning of offshore wind turbines, and challenges faced during the process. The primary parts that should be detached during decommissioning process of wind turbines are, underwater cables, wind turbine foundations, transition pieces and offshore substations [74]. The figure 21 depicts the number of wind farms which are going to be decommissioned in Europe from 2016 to 2038, and this number will increase significantly from 2028 to 2038, whereas figure 22 shows the number of turbines reaching 20 years in Europe.



FIGURE 21. DECOMMISSIONING OF EXISTING OFFSHORE WIND FARMS AND EXPECTED YEARS [65].



FIGURE 22. OVERVIEW OF WIND TURBINES IN EUROPE REACHING 20 YEARS [76].

There are some important parameters which must be kept in mind before decommissioning, some of them are given below.

- 1. The type of foundation
- 2. Depth of water
- 3. Wind speed
- 4. Wave Heights
- 5. Distance between shore and site
- 6. Availability of vessels and other lifting machinery

The main parameter is transportation of the complete structure onshore and then disassembling, this helps in reducing the costs of the process and reduces the risks that could be faced due to extreme weather conditions offshore [75].

4.4 Challenges in Decommissioning

During Decommissioning of wind turbines operators face a lot of challenges, and these challenges need to be given great importance before the process starts, according to paper [64] some important challenges that are faced by operators are listed below.



FIGURE 23. CHALLENGES OF DECOMMISSIONING [64].

4.4.1 Regulations and Licensing Issues

Decommissioning of wind turbines is very new for the industry, and so far only 5-6 wind farms have been decommissioned in Europe, and the whole process is not completely regulated and lacks data for the recommended practices, so far in the industry polluter pay principle is applied, which states wind farm owner will be responsible for any damage to the environment and he will make sure he returns the site in the original state after decommissioning [64-65].

4.4.2 Environmental and Ecological Effects

During installation of wind turbines, marine life is impacted badly; after installation with the passage of time the habitat is colonised again. During decommissioning there will be disruption again in the seabed and all the marine life living in that area will be disturbed. During dismantling high intensity noise is produced by vessels which affect the mammals and birds, the amount of disturbance also depends upon the type of foundations, monopile and gravity base foundations will have more impacts on the seabed (as they require concrete ballasts) than the floating ones. It is better to avoid decommissioning during breeding times else it will affect marine life badly [77-78].

4.4.3 Planning Procedure

Planning phase is very critical for decommissioning as it is strongly interlinked with the cost, planning is based on certain factors like the type of foundation, depth of water, weather conditions, distance between shore and site and total dismantling cost. Planning is done almost 9-10 years in advance; before actual decommissioning starts, so there is a chance of substantial changes, moreover due to absence of real time data and less experience; planning and cost estimates are highly effected [64], engineers are trying their best to solve this issue and have proposed an optimization model for decommissioning in [79] this optimization model will help in reducing the costs and scheduling the tasks in proper order.

4.4.4 Vessels Accessibility

Even though there are many vessels that can be hired for decommissioning [80], their accessibility can be limited because of the huge demands for new offshore installations in the coming years [82], operations and maintenance activities in ongoing projects, and decommissioning of oil and gas facilities that occur because of industry synergies. To prevent this possible impediment, it is necessary to secure contractual agreements well in advance. The vessels accessibility is influenced not only by expensive daily rates but also by significant factors of unpredictability, such as weather, equipment utilized, and market fluctuations. As a result, it is advisable to adopt a plan that minimizes the offshore lifting and operational duration to mitigate costs and potential hazards [81].

4.5 Cost Analysis for Decommissioning

Estimated cost for decommissioning any wind farm is almost 2-3% of the total capital cost and somewhat between 60-70% of the installation cost, operators need to keep in mind that end of life is also going to consume a lot of money and they should save during the middle of operational period, this cost can increased further if decommissioning has to be performed before the planned time [83].



FIGURE 24. BREAKDOWN OF DECOMMISSIONING COST [83].

From the above figure, it can be observed that foundation removal process is very expensive process, as the foundations are heavy and require heavy machinery and complex techniques for removal, this breakdown is only subjected to fixed bottom turbines as work for decommissioning of floating is under considerations, disassembly cost is also very high due to time taking activities [65].

4.6 Recycling of Wind turbines

Wind turbines consist of 3 main parts: foundation, nacelle and three blades. Foundation is usually made from concrete or steel; the nacelle has steel and copper composition, and blades usually are made from composite materials. Concrete and composite material are considered hazardous for the environment. Wind turbines blades are made up of glass fibre reinforced fibres and polymer matrix [87]. Recycling of wind turbine blades is new topic in the industry, after reaching end of life stage, there are 3 options to deal with the blade's material, either to landfill the material, which is least preferred or do incineration which is very common these days but have some defects like ash production, the third option is to do recycling [84]. Before the recycling process blades need to be intersected roughly, several techniques are used for disintegration of blades into smaller parts like jaw cutter technique, shredding and crushing [85], products after mechanical disintegration can be used for strengthening other products,

making insulation products like pellets and panels. Smaller parts can be further processed by using different techniques like pyrolysis, solvolysis, decomposition of materials and then be used for the desired purpose as shown in the figure [86].



FIGURE 26. OVERVIEW OF POSSIBILITIES OF RECYCLING [86].

Chapter 5: Analysis and Results

This chapter focuses on system contexts diagrams, N square diagrams and Failure mode effects and criticality analysis of critical wind turbine components and highlights on lifecycle costing and calculations related to reliability of wind turbine components. The main target of this analysis is to identify those components of offshore wind turbine which have high failure rates, identify their failure modes, failure causes and consequences and give them a suitable risk priority number.

5.1 Technical Hierarchy

There are many ways in which offshore wind turbines can be divided into, With the knowledge gained from ISO 14224 standards and by research paper [88], a technical hierarchy has been developed, which categorizes wind turbine into equipment and component level. Figure 27 shows the whole hierarchy of the wind turbine under consideration. This thesis will only focus on main equipment's and components which are more important.



FIGURE 27. TECHNICAL HIERARCHY OF WIND TURBINE

- The control system makes sure that wind turbines operate safely and optimally without any disturbance in power generation. It consists of different actuators, sensors and algorithms, yaw controller makes sure that wind turbines rotor is aligned to the incoming wind and captures maximum energy from the wind.
- The rotor system converts the kinetic energy of wind into mechanical one and transmit it to the drive train with the help of shafts.
- The drive train increases the rotational speed of the low-speed shaft with the help of gear box and transfer the energy to generator.
- The components of power system are responsible for converting mechanical energy into electricity and then stepping up or down the voltage accordingly [88].

5.2 Functional Breakdown

Functional break down is an important process and is usually performed before starting the Failure mode effects and criticality analysis. In this process system boundary is defined and a block diagram is created to show the important functions of the system under consideration, it helps in understanding the system more clearly and shows the connections between different equipment's and components of the system. In figure 28 the main function of each component is stated, starting with rotor whose main function is to provide torque to the shaft, gearbox main function is to increase the rotational speed of the shaft and generator converts the mechanical energy into electricity, transformer increases the voltage and export cables transport the electricity to the substation. Brakes are connected to the rotor to control the speed of rotor, they are used for stopping the rotor during an emergency condition when there is some serious fault as well as regulating the rotor's rotational velocity, when the wind speed is very high. Yaw motors usually are electrical motors and are used to rotate the nacelle and rotor assembly and align it to the direction of incoming wind.



FIGURE 28. FUNCTIONAL BREAKDOWN OF WIND TURBINE.

After reading different research papers, meetings with industrial supervisors in Moreld, It was decided to further divide the system (wind turbine) into component level i.e. Gearbox and Generator, they are very critical part of the wind turbine and their failure rate is also high ,Several research papers provided data about their failure rates and helped in the analysis, The following section will entail a comprehensive analysis of the gearbox system of the wind turbine, where it will be examined as an independent system. This analysis will be followed by a subsequent analysis of the generator.

5.3 System Context Diagram

A system context diagram is basically a visual representation which defines the boundary of the system and shows the external entities it interacts with [89]. It usually consists of the system in the centre, represented as a box, surrounded by its external entities, which are represented in different shapes. Arrows are used to show the flow of information or interaction between the system and its external entities [90].



FIGURE 29. SYSTEM CONTEXT DIAGRAM OF GEAR BOX OF WIND TURBINE UNDER CONSIDERATION

The figure 29 shows the connections of gear box of wind turbine with external entities, it provides a brief overview of the components of wind turbine with which the gearbox interacts during the operations. Similarly figure 30 depicts the generator as the system and shows the inputs from/to external entities. Single-sided arrows pointing in the direction of the system indicate that the system is receiving some input from the external component, while those pointing outward indicates that the system is sending some output to that component.



FIGURE 30. SYSTEM CONTEXT DIAGRAM OF GENERATOR OF WIND TURBINE UNDER CONSIDERATION

5.4 N² Analysis

N² Analysis is a tool which uses N*N matrix to find the interconnections between elements of a system [91]. The elements of a system, present in the diagonal, can be either software, hardware elements, functions or any kind of component belonging to the system under consideration. These matrices are called as diagrams, charts, and maps, interactions between the system's components, read clockwise, are the off-diagonal items [92]. The table 1 presents N² analysis of the internal components of the gearbox of the wind turbine and display the physical processes and physical connections which takes place between these internal components and show how they interact with each other.

N square diagram for Internal Components of Gearbox			
Low speed shaft	Gears Rotational energy	Bearings Gear teeth's Torque	
couplings	High speed shaft	Bearings Gear teeth's	
Mounted bearings	Mounted bearings High rotational speed	Gears	
Lubrication Oil	Lubrication Oil	Lubrication Oil Oil pumps	Lubrication system

TABLE 2. N SQUARE ANALYSIS OF GEARBOX INTERNAL COMPONENTS.

Similarly, table 2 demonstrates the physical connections and processes between the internal components of the generator of the wind turbine.

N square diagram for Internal Components of Generator				
Generator Stator	Electromagnetic force	Alternating Current		
synchronization Alternating current	Generator Rotor	Bearings Gear teeth's		
		Rectifier	Output terminals, busbars	
Stator Windings		Electrical Cables	Terminal Box	

TABLE 3. N SQUARE ANALYSIS OF GENERATOR INTERNAL COMPONENTS.

5.5 Failure Mode Effect and Criticality Analysis

The FMEA is a systematic method for determining potential points of failure and the consequences those failures could have, also helps in identifying failure modes, failure causes, and the effects of the failure on the system performance [94]. FMECA is extension of the FMEA in which risks associated with failure modes are also ranked by the help of RPN.

RPN is risk priority number and is calculated by multiplying the frequency of Occurrence (O) to Severity of the failure (S) to detectability index (D)

FMECA analysis is very crucial and helps in design phase starting from concept phase to development phase, The main goal of FMECA is to identify the critical failures in early design phase and find ways to eliminate or reduce these failures, this analysis is very important for reliability, maintainability, and maintenance task analysis [93].

Rating	Occurrence	Meaning	Possible failure rate
1	remote	Failure in unlikely.	≤1/1,500,000
2	low	Relatively few failures.	1/150,000
3	-	-	1/15,000
4	moderate	Occasional failures.	1/2,000
5	-	-	1/400
6	-	-	1/80
7	high	Repeated failures.	1/20
8	-	-	1/8
9	very high	Failure is almost inevitable.	1/3
10	-	-	$\geq 1/2$

TABLE 4. FMECA RATINGS FOR OCCURRENCE OF FAILURE [104].

Rating	Effect	Severity of Effect
10	Hazardous without warning	System failure resulting in hazardous effects almost certain.
9	Hazardous with warning	System failure resulting in hazardous effects highly probable.
8	Very high	System inoperable but safe.
7	High	System performance severely affected.
6	Moderate	System operable and safe but performance degraded.
5	Low	Reduced performance with gradual performance degradation.
4	Very Low	Minor effect on system performance.
3	Minor	Slight effect on system performance. Non-vital faults will be noticed most of the time
2	Very Minor	Negligible effect on system performance.
1	None	No effect.

TABLE 5. FMECA RATINGS FOR SEVERITY OF FAILURE [104].

•		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Rank	Detection	Criteria
1	nearly certain	With a very high probability a failure will be detected in a very early initial stage.
2	very high	With a high probability a failure will be detected in a very early initial stage.
3	high	With a high probability a failure will be detected in an early initial stage.
4	moderate high	With a high probability a failure will be detected after initial stage.
5	moderate	With a moderate probability a failure will be detected while existing a short while before getting critical.
6	low	A failure will be detected while existing a while just before getting critical.
7	very low	A failure will be detected while existing for a long while just before getting critical.
8	little	A failure will be hardly detected in a very late stage.
9	uncertain	The detection of a failure before becoming critical is uncertain.
10	nearly uncertain	The detection of a failure nearly is not possible

TABLE 6. FMECA RATINGS FOR DETECTION OF FAILURE [103].

Before starting the given system's FMECA, table 4 to table 6 should be fully comprehended and analysed as they help in calculating RPN.

The table 7 is failure mode effect and criticality analysis of the gear box of the wind turbine, which was under consideration, the data included in this FMECA is based on knowledge gained from different research papers and interviewing some senior engineers of the company, however for every turbine these factors will vary depending upon the operating conditions, and environmental effects. With the help of tables 4,5,6 RPN values are also being calculated for different failure modes which are more crucial and have high failure rates.

	Function	Safety consequences	Business consequences	Environment consequences	Failure mode	Failure cause	Failure effect	Occurrence	Severity	Detection	RPN
Gearbox FMECA	Power Transmission/ Torque conversion	Н	Η	Μ	Gear Tooth wear	Improper gear ratio, misalignment	Tooth breakage, pitting	6	7	4	168
		Н	H	Μ	Bearing Failure	Fatigue, less oiling	Reduced efficiency	7	7	3	147
		М	Η	Μ	Lubrication problems	Degraded oil, particle contamination	Increase wear, overheating effects	4	6	5	120

TABLE 7. FMECA OF GEAR BOX OF WIND TURBINE

Similarly, table 8 is FMECA of the generator of the wind turbine under consideration, failure modes having high failure rates like electrical failure, bearing failure and slip ring failures are analysed here. In the next column the causes of these failure modes are listed, and then the next column contain failure effects, these effects can either be local or global. With the help of these 2 FMECA, information about failure causes is obtained and this information is fruitful in reducing the failure rates of the given system, it helps maintenance engineer in deciding which maintenance strategy to be used for the given system.

	Function	Safety consequences	Business consequences	Environment consequences	Failure mode	Failure cause	Failure effect	Occurrence	Severity	Detection	RPN
Generator FMECA	Converts mechanical energy to electrical energy	Η	Η	Η	Electrical failure	Corrosion, Overheating, poor components	Generator shutdown, safety hazards	5	8	4	160
		Η	H	Μ	Bearing Failure	Fatigue, less oiling	Increased noise and vibration	7	7	3	147
		Η	Η	М	Slip Ring issue	Poor lubrication, particles contamination, wear	Damaged components reduced efficiency Overheating,	6	6	3	108

TABLE 8. FMECA OF GENERATOR OF WIND TURBINE

5.6 Reliability Calculations

There are certain assumptions that are made before calculating reliability of the gear box and generator of the wind turbine. Failure rate data was gathered from (SCADA) databases, some old operations and maintenance reports, and was then supplemented with information from references [96-99].

An assumption of constant failure rates was implemented in reliability calculations of gearbox and generator, of the given system because they are still in their useful lifetime.

The Weibull reliability function is given by [88].

 $R(t) = \exp[-(t/\eta)^{\beta}$

shape parameter = β β =1 for constant failure rates

scale parameter = η

 $η = (1 / λ) ^ (1 / β)$

 λ = failure rate per year

t= desired time at which reliability is to be calculate

The failure rate of gearbox and generator of two turbines with same power ratings, one offshore and one onshore is listed [99].

- λ Gearbox offshore = 0.179
- λ Generator offshore = 0.150
- λ Gearbox onshore = 0.134
- λ Generator onshore = 0.110

"Reliability is the likelihood that a component (or an entire system) will carry out its function for a predetermined amount of time" [100]. Therefore, reliability is a clear standard for determining whether something is working or not [100]. From the results it can be observed that onshore gearbox and generator are more reliable than their offshore counterparts.



FIGURE 30. RELIABILITY COMPARISON OF GEARBOX (ONSHORE AND OFFSHORE).



FIGURE 31. RELIABILITY COMPARISON OF GENERATOR (ONSHORE AND OFFSHORE).

5.7 Lifecycle Cost Analysis

Life-cycle cost analysis (LCCA) is a method done to evaluate the project economically, this analysis encompasses all costs that arise from development, installation, operation, maintenance, and disposal of a project as these are considered to play potentially important role in decision making [101].

The LCCA methodology used for this thesis is only limited to the economic analysis of a 450 MW floating windfarm having turbines of 15 MW and 100 m water depth at site. It is assumed that wind farm will operate for almost 21 years with different maintenance strategies and operations being performed, this article [102], provided the estimates of the cost for this wind farm and helped in the analysis. Furthermore, there were some assumptions made after discussions with the supervisor for the division of cost for each year.

Table 9 below shows the lifecycle costing and benefits of the wind farm, which is under consideration, with a column of costs of different lifecycle phases, and how these phases, if done efficiently, can have an impact on reduction of costs. Last column illustrates the importance of SHEQ during each phase and how it can be implemented in that phase.

LIFE CYCLE COSTING AND BENEFITS

	Economic	Environmental				
Lifecycle Phase	Cost (Euros)	Cost or Losses Saving (Benefits)	SHEQ			
Design	68 M	Reduce logistics costs, avoid delays, rework	Ensure industry standards, minimize noise and vibrations			
Installation	170M	Reduce labour hours, major accidents	Check quality of components and installation process			
Operations	231M	Improve the reliability, reduce downtimes	Implement quality control measures, keep documentations and records			
Maintenance	400M	Increase lifetime	Implement CBM and advance sensors and strategies			
Decommissioning	68M	Reduce maintenance costs due to ageing.	Ensure Waste management, recycling, and disposal			

TABLE 9. LIFECYCLE COSTING ANALYSIS OF WIND FARM

Figure 32 Illustrates the annual cost which is related with different stages of wind farms lifecycle.



FIGURE 32. LIFECYCLE COSTING OF WIND FARM UNDER CONSIDERATION.

Chapter 6: Conclusion

This thesis analysed different factors relating to Lifecycle management of wind farms, with a tilt towards offshore farms, a brief overview of different types of foundations was presented in chapter 2, then we discussed different types of failures encountered by wind turbines during operations, maintenance strategies that are used to mitigate these failures were analysed afterwards.

As many wind farms in Europe are reaching their end of life, so a detailed study was done about end-of-life management, including various concepts like extension of life, recycling, repurposing, and decommissioning. This thesis also explores the challenges that are related to efficient decommissioning starting from vessels accessibility to regulations and licensing.

Finally, a study was conducted encompassing failure mode effect and criticality analysis, N² analysis, reliability analysis for the gearbox and generator of the wind turbine, these analysis helped in understanding working of wind turbines, interconnection between different components and failures encountered. In the end of thesis cost benefit analysis was done, to give an estimate of the lifecycle costing.

References

- "Electricity Production." Energifakta Norge, May 11, 2021. https://energifaktanorge.no/en/norsk-energiforsyning/kraftproduksjon/.
- 2. Rattan, Charley. "GWEC: Global Wind Report 2022." Energy Central, April 4, 2022. https://energycentral.com/c/cp/gwec-global-wind-report-2022.
- "Wind Turbine Foundation: 5 Foundation Types Explained for Onshore Wind Turbine." CNBM Wind Turbine Tower, May 11, 2018. http://www.steelwindtower.com/wind-turbinefoundation-5-foundation-types-explained-for-onshore-wind-turbine/.
- 4. Geotechnical design considerations for onshore wind turbine shallow https://ascelibrary.org/doi/10.1061/9780784479742.096.
- 5. Brunel. "Onshore vs Offshore Wind: The Pros and Cons." Brunel, May 23, 2023. https://cdn01.brunel.net/en/blog/renewable-energy/onshore-offshore-wind.
- "Onshore vs Offshore Wind Energy: What's the Difference?" National Grid Group. Accessed June 18, 2023. https://www.nationalgrid.com/stories/energy-explained/onshore-vs-offshore-wind-energy.
- "Offshore Wind Power." Wikipedia, June 18, 2023. https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Offshore_wind_power.
- Malhotra, Sanjeev. "Design and Construction Considerations for Offshore Wind Turbine Foundations in North America." *GeoFlorida 2010*, 2010. https://doi.org/10.1061/41095(365)155.
- Moulas, D., M. Shafiee, and A. Mehmanparast. "Damage Analysis of Ship Collisions with Offshore Wind Turbine Foundations." *Ocean Engineering* 143 (2017): 149–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oceaneng.2017.04.050.
- 10.Oh, Ki-Yong, Woochul Nam, Moo Sung Ryu, Ji-Young Kim, and Bogdan I. Epureanu. "A Review of Foundations of Offshore Wind Energy Convertors: Current Status and Future Perspectives." *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 88 (2018): 16–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2018.02.005.
- 11. Negro, Vicente, José-Santos López-Gutiérrez, M. Dolores Esteban, Pablo Alberdi, Mario Imaz, and José-María Serraclara. "Monopiles in Offshore Wind: Preliminary Estimate of Main Dimensions." Ocean Engineering 133 (2017): 253–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oceaneng.2017.02.011.

- Díaz, H., and C. Guedes Soares. "Review of the Current Status, Technology and Future Trends of Offshore Wind Farms." *Ocean Engineering* 209 (2020): 107381. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oceaneng.2020.107381.
- O'Kelly, B.C., and M. Arshad. "Offshore Wind Turbine Foundations Analysis and Design." Offshore Wind Farms, 2016, 589–610. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-08-100779-2.00020-9.
- 14. "The US Has Just Started Building Floating Wind Turbines How Do They Work?" World Economic Forum. Accessed March 18, 2023. https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2022/12/floating-wind-turbines-us/.

15. Tacx, Jochem. "The Future of Offshore Wind - Floating Wind Farms." Energy Central,

May 25, 2021. https://energycentral.com/c/ee/future-offshore-wind-floating-wind-farms.

- 16. Uroffshoreacadmey. "Semi-Submersible Floating Offshore Wind Turbine Foundation: Everything You Want to Know." Everything about Offshore structures, October 6, 2022. https://offshoreacadmey.com/semi-submersible-offshore-wind-turbine/.
- 17. Kim, Ji-Young, Ki-Yong Oh, Keum-Seok Kang, and Jun-Shin Lee. "Site Selection of Offshore Wind Farms around the Korean Peninsula through Economic Evaluation." *Renewable Energy* 54 (2013): 189–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2012.08.026.
- Typical wind power output versus wind speed. | download scientific diagram. Accessed June 18, 2023. <u>https://www.researchgate.net/figure/Typical-wind-power-output-versuswind-speed_fig1_323434457</u>.
- 19. Team, The UtilitySmarts. "What Is Cut out Speed of Wind Turbine?" UtilitySmarts, September 1, 2021. http://www.utilitysmarts.com/renewables/wind-power/what-is-cut-outspeed-of-wind-turbine/.
- 20. "Environmental Impacts of Wind Power." Union of Concerned Scientists. Accessed June 18, 2023. https://www.ucsusa.org/resources/environmental-impacts-wind-power.
- 21. Carroll, James, Alasdair McDonald, and David McMillan. "Failure Rate, Repair Time and Unscheduled O&M Cost Analysis of Offshore Wind Turbines." *Wind Energy* 19, no. 6 (2015): 1107–19. https://doi.org/10.1002/we.1887.
- 22. Mishnaevsky, Leon. "Repair of Wind Turbine Blades: Review of Methods and Related Computational Mechanics Problems." *Renewable Energy* 140 (2019): 828–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2019.03.113.
- 23. Chen, Xiao. "Fracture of Wind Turbine Blades in Operation-Part I: A Comprehensive Forensic Investigation." *Wind Energy* 21, no. 11 (2018): 1046–63. https://doi.org/10.1002/we.2212.

- 24. Li, Dongsheng, Siu-Chun M Ho, Gangbing Song, Liang Ren, and Hongnan Li. "A Review of Damage Detection Methods for Wind Turbine Blades." *Smart Materials and Structures* 24, no. 3 (2015): 033001. https://doi.org/10.1088/0964-1726/24/3/033001.
- 25. "2016 Wind Turbine Accident Report." Mothers Against Wind Turbines Inc., April 7, 2016. https://mothersagainstturbines.com/2016/04/07/2016-wind-turbine-accident-report/.
- 26. Lu, Bin, Yaoyu Li, Xin Wu, and Zhongzhou Yang. "A Review of Recent Advances in Wind Turbine Condition Monitoring and Fault Diagnosis." 2009 IEEE Power Electronics and Machines in Wind Applications, 2009. https://doi.org/10.1109/pemwa.2009.5208325.
- 27. Wilkinson, Michael R., Fabio Spinato, and Peter J. Tavner. "Condition Monitoring of Generators & Other Subassemblies in Wind Turbine Drive Trains." 2007 IEEE International Symposium on Diagnostics for Electric Machines, Power Electronics and Drives, 2007. https://doi.org/10.1109/demped.2007.4393125.
- 28. "Standard Maintenance Maintenance Terminology SS-EN 13306:2017 Swedish Institute for Standards, SIS." Svenska institutet för standarder, SIS. Accessed June 05, 2023. https://www.sis.se/en/produkter/standardization/vocabularies/services/ss-en-133062017/.
- 29. Berlin, Gertsbakh. Reliability theory with applications to preventive maintenance https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/07408170208928939.
- 30. Ribrant, Johan. "Reliability Performance and Maintenance A Survey of Failures in Wind Power Systems." Reliability performance and maintenance - A survey of failures in wind power systems (Thesis/Dissertation) | ETDEWEB, May 15, 2006. https://www.osti.gov/etdeweb/biblio/20833771.
- 31. Development of Equipment Maintenance Strategy for critical equipment. <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/280804155_Development_of_Equip</u> <u>ment_Maintenance_Strategy_for_Critical_Equipment.</u>
- 32. Hameed, Z., S.H. Ahn, and Y.M. Cho. "Practical Aspects of a Condition Monitoring System for a Wind Turbine with Emphasis on Its Design, System Architecture, Testing and Installation." *Renewable Energy* 35, no. 5 (2010): 879–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2009.10.031.
- 33. Mechefske, Chris. "Machine Condition Monitoring and Fault Diagnostics." *Mechanical Engineering Series*, 2007, 1–35. https://doi.org/10.1201/9781420053203.ch6.
- 34. Verbruggen, T W. "Wind Turbine Operation and Maintenance Based on Condition Monitoring Wt-{Omega}. Final Report." Wind Turbine Operation and Maintenance based on Condition Monitoring WT-{omega}. Final report (Technical Report) | ETDEWEB, April 1, 2003. https://www.osti.gov/etdeweb/biblio/20376548.

- 35. Caselitz, P, and J Giebhardt. "Fault Prediction Techniques for Offshore Wind Farm Maintenance and Repair Strategies." Fault prediction techniques for offshore wind farm maintenance and repair strategies (Miscellaneous) | ETDEWEB, July 1, 2004. https://www.osti.gov/etdeweb/biblio/20603618.
- 36. Tandon, N., and B.C. Nakra. "Comparison of Vibration and Acoustic Measurement Techniques for the Condition Monitoring of Rolling Element Bearings." *Tribology International* 25, no. 3 (1992): 205–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/0301-679x(92)90050-w
- 37. Tandon, N, and A Choudhury. "A Review of Vibration and Acoustic Measurement Methods for the Detection of Defects in Rolling Element Bearings." *Tribology International* 32, no. 8 (1999): 469–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0301-679x(99)00077-8.
- 38. Yoshioka, Takeo. "Detection of rolling contact sub-surface fatigue cracks using acoustic emission technique." *Lubrication Engineering* 49 (1993): 303-308.
- Choudhury, A., and N. Tandon. "Application of Acoustic Emission Technique for the Detection of Defects in Rolling Element Bearings." Tribology International 33, no. 1 (2000): 39–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0301-679x(00)00012-8.
- 40. Yoshioka T, Takeda M. Classification of rolling contact fatigue initiation using acoustic emission technique. Lubrication Engineering 1994;51(1):41e4.
- 41. Tandon, N., G.S. Yadava, and K.M. Ramakrishna. "A Comparison of Some Condition Monitoring Techniques for the Detection of Defect in Induction Motor Ball Bearings." *Mechanical Systems and Signal Processing* 21, no. 1 (2007): 244–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymssp.2005.08.005.
- 42. Tandon, Naresh and B. C. Nakra. "Defect detection in rolling element bearings by acoustic emission method." *Journal of acoustic emission* 9 (1990): 25-28.
- 43. Wei, Jun, and Joe McCarty. "Acoustic Emission Evaluation of Composite Wind Turbine Blades During Fatigue Testing." *Wind Engineering* 17, no. 6 (1993): 266–74. http://www.jstor.org/stable/43749522.
- 44. Knezevic, Jezdimir. *Reliability, maintainability, and supportability: A probabilistic approach*. London: McGraw-Hill, 1993.
- 45. Deshpande, V.S, and J.P Modak. "Application of RCM for Safety Considerations in a Steel Plant." *Reliability Engineering & amp; System Safety* 78, no. 3 (2002): 325–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0951-8320(02)00177-1.
- 46. Endrenyi, J. "The Present Status of Maintenance Strategies and the Impact of Maintenance on Reliability." *IEEE Power Engineering Review* 21, no. 12 (2001): 68–68. https://doi.org/10.1109/mper.2001.4311233.

- 47. JUENGERT, Anne, and Christian GROSSE. Inspection Techniques for Wind Turbine Blades Using Ultrasound and Sound Waves, n.d.
- 48. "Floating Wind Joint Industry Programme (JIP)." The Carbon Trust, January 27, 2023. https://www.carbontrust.com/our-work-and-impact/impact-stories/floating-wind-jointindustry-programme-jip.
- 49. Ahn, Dang, Sung-chul Shin, Soo-young Kim, Hicham Kharoufi, and Hyun-cheol Kim.
 "Comparative Evaluation of Different Offshore Wind Turbine Installation Vessels for Korean West–South Wind Farm." *International Journal of Naval Architecture and Ocean Engineering* 9, no. 1 (2017): 45–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnaoe.2016.07.004.
- 50. Challenges and opportunities of major maintenance for ... WFO-global. Accessed June 18, 2023. https://wfo-global.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/12/WFO_OM-WhitePaper-December2021-FINAL.pdf.
- 51. Shafiee, Mahmood, Zeyu Zhou, Luyao Mei, Fateme Dinmohammadi, Jackson Karama, and David Flynn. "Unmanned Aerial Drones for Inspection of Offshore Wind Turbines: A Mission-Critical Failure Analysis." Robotics 10, no. 1 (2021): 26. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/robotics10010026</u>.
- 52. Annunziata, Marco. "Powering the Future." Medium, 19 Oct. 2015, marcoannunziata.medium.com/powering-the-future-1e309b30379a
- 53. Gerdes, Justin. "Using 'Digital Twins' to Boost Production, Cut Costs at Floating Offshore Wind Farms." Using "Digital Twins" to Boost Production, Cut Costs at Floating Offshore Wind Farms | Greentech Media, May 4, 2020. https://www.greentechmedia.com/articles/read/using-digital-twins-to-boost-productionreduce-maintenance-at-floating-offshore-wind-farms.
- 54. Poulsen, Thomas, and Charlotte Hasager. "How Expensive Is Expensive Enough? Opportunities for Cost Reductions in Offshore Wind Energy Logistics." Energies 9, no. 6 (2016): 437. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/en9060437</u>.
- 55. Barlow E, Tezcaner Ozturk D, Day S, Boulougouris E, Revie M, Akartunali K. An assessment of vessel characteristics for the installation of offshore wind farms. 2014. ICMT 2014, Glasgow, United Kingdom.
- 56. Christian Spro Ole, Torres-Olguin Raymundo E, Korpås Magnus. North Sea offshore network and energy storage for large scale integration of renewables
- 57. Kaiser, Mark J., and Brian F. Snyder. "Modeling Offshore Wind Installation Costs on the U.S. Outer Continental Shelf." Renewable Energy 50 (2013): 676–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2012.07.042.

- 58. Munich RE. Reliable security for stormy times. Münchener Rückversicherungs-Gesellschaft Königinstrasse 107, 80802 München, Germany (2013).
- 59. Institute of Shipping Economics and Logistics. Increasing the transparency of logistics costs as a competitive factor in the offshore wind energy.
- 60. Vis, Iris F.A., and Evrim Ursavas. "Assessment Approaches to Logistics for Offshore Wind Energy Installation." Sustainable Energy Technologies and Assessments 14 (2016): 80–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seta.2016.02.001.
- 61. "Offshore Wind in Europe Key Trends and Statistics 2019." WindEurope, February 17, 2020. https://windeurope.org/aboutwind/statistics/offshore/european-offshore-wind-industry-key-trends-statistics-2019/.
- 62. Olsen, Frank, and Kim Dyre. "Vindeby Off-Shore Wind Farm Construction and Operation." *Wind Engineering* 17, no. 3 (1993): 120–28. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/43749506</u>.
- 63. Ziegler, Lisa, Elena Gonzalez, Tim Rubert, Ursula Smolka, and Julio J. Melero. "Lifetime Extension of Onshore Wind Turbines: A Review Covering Germany, Spain, Denmark, and the UK." *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 82 (2018): 1261–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2017.09.100.
- 64. Topham, Eva, Elena Gonzalez, David McMillan, and Elsa João. "Challenges of Decommissioning Offshore Wind Farms: Overview of the European Experience." *Journal* of Physics: Conference Series 1222, no. 1 (2019): 012035. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/1222/1/012035.
- 65. Topham, Eva, and David McMillan. "Sustainable Decommissioning of an Offshore Wind Farm." *Renewable Energy* 102 (2017): 470–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2016.10.066.
- 66. Luengo, Maria, and Athanasios Kolios. "Failure Mode Identification and End of Life Scenarios of Offshore Wind Turbines: A Review." *Energies* 8, no. 8 (2015): 8339–54. https://doi.org/10.3390/en8088339.
- 67. Pakenham, Benjamin, Anna Ermakova, and Ali Mehmanparast. "A Review of Life Extension Strategies for Offshore Wind Farms Using Techno-Economic Assessments." *Energies* 14, no. 7 (2021): 1936. https://doi.org/10.3390/en14071936.
- 68. Ingram, Elizabeth. "How to Extend the Lifetime of Wind Turbines." Renewable Energy World, January 14, 2020. https://www.renewableenergyworld.com/om/how-to-extend-thelifetime-of-wind-turbines/.
- 69. Rubert, T., D. McMillan, and P. Niewczas. "A Decision Support Tool to Assist with Lifetime Extension of Wind Turbines." *Renewable Energy* 120 (2018): 423–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2017.12.064.

- 70. Kusiak, Andrew, Zijun Zhang, and Anoop Verma. "Prediction, Operations, and Condition Monitoring in Wind Energy." *Energy* 60 (2013): 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2013.07.051.
- 71. Hou, Peng, Peter Enevoldsen, Weihao Hu, Cong Chen, and Zhe Chen. "Offshore Wind Farm Repowering Optimization." *Applied Energy* 208 (2017): 834–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2017.09.064.
- 72. "U.S. Energy Information Administration EIA Independent Statistics and Analysis." EIA. Accessed June 19, 2023. https://www.eia.gov/about/.
- 73. Fieldfisher. "Repowering: The Future of Wind Farms." Fieldfisher, June 1, 2022. https://www.fieldfisher.com/en/insights/repowering-the-future-of-wind-farms.
- 74. Moray offshore renewables limited environmental statement Telford ... https://marine.gov.scot/datafiles/lot/MORL/Environmental_statement/Volume%202%20% 20Project%20Background%20and%20Description%20of%20the%20Environment/0%20-%20Preface.pdf.
- 75. Kaiser, Mark J., and Brian F. Snyder. "Modeling Offshore Wind Installation Costs." Offshore Wind Energy Cost Modeling, 2012, 159–87. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4471-2488-7_9.
- 76.4C Offshore, "4C Offshore Database
- 77. Hammar, Linus, Andreas Wikström, and Sverker Molander. "Assessing Ecological Risks of Offshore Wind Power on Kattegat Cod." *Renewable Energy* 66 (2014): 414–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2013.12.024.
- 78. Assessment of the Environmental Effects of Offshore Wind Farms." Offshore wind energy. https://www.offshorewindenergy.org/COD/reports/report-files/report_003.pdf.
- 79. Irawan, Chandra Ade, Graham Wall, and Dylan Jones. "An Optimisation Model for Scheduling the Decommissioning of an Offshore Wind Farm." OR Spectrum 41, no. 2 (2019): 513–48. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00291-019-00546-z.
- Kaiser, Mark J., and Brian F. Snyder. "Modeling Offshore Wind Installation Costs." Offshore Wind Energy Cost Modeling, 2012, 159–87. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4471-2488-7_9.
- Beinke, Thies, Abderrahim Ait Alla, and Michael Freitag. "Decommissioning of Offshore Wind Farms." *Dynamics in Logistics*, 2018, 216–22. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-74225-0_30.
- 82. McMillan, D, and I Dinwoodie. "Forecasting Long Term Jack up Vessel Demand for Offshore Wind." Safety, Reliability and Risk Analysis, 2013, 2119–25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1201/b15938-319</u>.

- 83. Offshore Renewable Energy Installation Decommissioning Study e Climate Change Capital.
- Pickering, S.J. "Recycling Technologies for Thermoset Composite Materials—Current Status." *Composites Part A: Applied Science and Manufacturing* 37, no. 8 (2006): 1206– 15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compositesa.2005.05.030.
- 85. Jensen, J.P., and K. Skelton. "Wind Turbine Blade Recycling: Experiences, Challenges and Possibilities in a Circular Economy." *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 97 (2018): 165–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2018.08.041.
- 86. Leon, Mishnaevsky Jr. "Recycling of Wind Turbine Blades: Recent Developments." *Current Opinion in Green and Sustainable Chemistry* 39 (2023): 100746. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cogsc.2022.100746.
- 87. Januário, Cássia, Stella Semino, and Maite Bell. Offshore Windfarm decommissioning: A proposal for guidelines to

...https://www.researchgate.net/profile/MaiteBell/publication/228636135_Offshore_Windfa rm_Decommissioning_A_proposal_for_guidelines_to_be_included_in_the_European_Mar itime_Policy/links/0f317538ef27d9d36f000000/Offshore-Windfarm-Decommissioning-Aproposal-for-guidelines-to-be-included-in-the-European-Maritime-Policy.pdf?origin=publication_detail.

- 88. García, Itamar Esdras Martínez, Alejandro Sánchez, and Stefano Barbati. Reliability and Preventive Maintenance
- 89. Choubey, Manoj Kumar. "It Infrastructure and Management: For the GBTU and MMTU." Google Books.

https://books.google.com/books/about/IT_Infrastructure_and_Management_For_the.html? id=Wks8BAAAQBAJ.

- 90. Dennis Allan, Barbara Wixom, and David Tegarden. Systems Analysis and Design: An Object-Oriented Approach with UML, 6th Edition, n.d.
- 91.Burge, Stuart. The Systems Engineering Tool Box Burge Hughes walsh. https://www.burgehugheswalsh.co.uk/uploaded/1/documents/cd-tool-box-v1.0.pdf.
- 92. Wright, Jerome L. "Squared Systems." N, n2.quarkweb.com/.
- 93. Procedures for performing a failure mode, effects and criticality Analysis. https://elsmar.com/pdf_files/Military%20Standards/mil-std-1629.pdf.
- 94. Failure Modes and Effects Analysis (FMEA and FMECA), webstore.iec.ch/.
- 95. Liu, Hu-Chen, Long Liu, Qi-Hao Bian, Qin-Lian Lin, Na Dong, and Peng-Cheng Xu. "Failure Mode and Effects Analysis Using Fuzzy Evidential Reasoning Approach and

Grey Theory." *Expert Systems with Applications* 38, no. 4 (2011): 4403–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eswa.2010.09.110.

- 96. Andrawus Jesse Agwandas. Maintenance optimisation for wind turbines, n.d.
- 97. Karyotakis, Alexander. Optimisation of Operation and Maintenance Strategies for Offshore Wind Farms, n.d.
- 98. Shafiee, Mahmood, Michael Patriksson, Ann-Brith Stromberg, and Lina Bertling. "A Redundancy Optimization Model Applied to Offshore Wind Turbine Power Converters." 2013 IEEE Grenoble Conference, 2013. https://doi.org/10.1109/ptc.2013.6652427.
- Shafiee, Mahmood, and Fateme Dinmohammadi. "An FMEA-Based Risk Assessment Approach for Wind Turbine Systems: A Comparative Study of Onshore and Offshore." *Energies* 7, no. 2 (2014): 619–42. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/en7020619</u>.
- 100. De, Filippo. "Reliability and Maintainability in Operations Management." Operations Management, 2013. <u>https://doi.org/10.5772/54161</u>
- 101. "Maintenance." NIST, 16 June 2023, www.nist.gov/maintenance
- 102. "Lifecycle Overview." Guide to a Floating Offshore Wind Farm, guidetofloatingoffshorewind.com/wind-farm-costs/
- 103. Chipindula, Jesuina, Hongbo Du, Ziaul Huque, and Raghava Rao kommalapati. "Life Cycle Environmental Impact of Onshore and Offshore Wind Farms in Texas," n.d.
- 104. Díaz, H., and C. Guedes Soares. "Review of the Current Status, Technology and Future Trends of Offshore Wind Farms." *Ocean Engineering* 209 (August 2020): 107381. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oceaneng.2020.107381.
- 105. Boopathi, Kadhirvel, Leon Mishnaevsky Jr, Bose Sumantraa, S. Anthonyraj Premkumar, Krishnaraj Thamodharan, and Kannan Balaraman. "Failure mechanisms of wind turbine blades in India: Climatic, regional, and seasonal variability." Wind Energy 25, no. 5 (2022): 968-979.
- 106. Hossain, Md Maruf, and Mohd. Hasan Ali. "Future Research Directions for the Wind Turbine Generator System." *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 49 (September 2015): 481–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2015.04.126.